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QYESTIONS PRESENTED 
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PEST CONTROL, 401 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1981) IN EXCLUDING T H r  
TESTIMONY OF WILLIE FERGUSON? 

111. WHETHER REINSTATEMENT IS NOT AN AVAILABLE REMEDY IN A 
WRONGFUL DISCHARGE CASE UNDER SECTION 440.205 AND THEREFORE 
DAMAGES FOR FUTURE LOST WAGES ARE AVAILABLE? 

IV. WHETHER THE PLAINTIFF IN A WRONGFUL DISCHARGE CASE IS 
ENTITLED TO PREJUDGMENT INTEREST ON A PAST LOST WAGES AWARD? 

V. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S 
MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT SINCE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE EXISTED 
PRESENTING A JURY QUESTION ON THE ISSUE OF PLAINTIFF'S WRONGFUL 
DISCHARGE? 

VI. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN REFUSING TO MODIFY 
PLAINTIFF'S AWARD FOR PAST LOST WAGES AND BENEFITS? 

VII. WHETHER THE JURY WAS CORRECTLY CHARGED ON ALL ELEMENTS 
NECESSARY TO PROVE WRONGFUL DISCHARGE? 
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STATEMENT -- OF THE FACTS 

We do not wish to belabor the controverted I1factsIv of this 

case or the evidence submitted at trial. However, We would be 

neglect in our duty if We did not provide this Court with a 

proper overview of the facts as dictated by several judicially 

adopted policies concerning appellate review applicable to the 

proper statement of facts in an appellate brief. Indeed, the 

brief of Defendant OTIS ELEVATOR COMPANY (hereinafter OTIS) 

makes one wonder whether OTIS is aware of these appellate 

presumptions and judicially made policies which are controlling 

herein. Nevertheless, so that this Court may clearly and 

accurately review the record presented, Plaintiff will respond 

to the vffactsll presented in the brief submitted by OTIS and the 

actual facts as they must be construed by this Court. 

First of all, We must point out the obvious. The "factsv1 

submitted by OTIS contain numerous improper argumentative 

comments (Brief of Respondent at 6, 7, 8 ,  9, 10). Moreover this 

brief does not designate the areas of disagreement with the 

facts contained within our initial brief but rather restates the 

facts and sets forth "additionalv1 facts favorable to OTIS. 

These facts should be stricken since they are in violation of 

Rule 9.210 (c), Fla. R. App. P. 

OTIS in its has taken contradictory testimony and 

presented that as the only testimony in the record. 

is well settled in this State that an appellate court must view 

the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party 

and cannot reweigh the evidence or redetermine the credibility 

However, it 
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of the witnesses. HELMAN v. SEABOARD COAST LINE RAILROAD 

COMPANY, 349 So. 2d 1187 ( F l a .  1977); CRAIN & CROUSE, INC. v. 

PALM BAY TOWERS CORPORATION, 326 So. 2d 182 (Fla. 1976). 

We submit the following facts which either clarify OTIS' 

inaccurate facts or include testimony and inferences favorable 

to MR. SCOTT not contained in the facts submitted by OTIS: 

The vehicle in which the bullet casings and clips were 

found belonged to MR. SCOTT'S son not MR. SCOTT (R. 390). The 

record is unclear as to whether MR. SCOTT was receiving workers' 

compensation benefits at the time of trial (R. 9-11). 

MR. SCOTT did try to report his injury of September 12, 

1980 to Mitchell but he was unable to reach Mitchell because he 

was out of the office. Therefore he told Mitchell about the 

injury the following week when Mitchell came to the job site (R. 

272). It is undisputed that Mitchell was designated by OTIS as 

the person to whom on the job injuries were to be reported and 

that he approved all reports. 

MR. SCOTT testified he did not remember whether Mitchell 

asked him if he wanted to fill out an accident report (R. 275 . 
MR. SCOTT did not go to the doctor when he was injured because 

he did not feel that he could take off time from work. He 

stated that if he did have to go to the doctor he would go at 

night (R. 275). 

MR. SCOTT explained at trial that since he knew nothing 

about the filing of a workers' compensation claim or filling out 

an accident report, he was not familiar enough with the process 

to even discuss it with Mitchell (R. 276). This is the reason 

2 
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MR. SCOTT did not request that a workers' compensation claim be 

filed by Mitchell for him. 

In order that the Court may understand the chronology of 

events, Plaintiff would set forth the following: 

1. 

2. 

3 .  

4. 

5. 

6. 

7 .  

25 , 
(R. 

MR. SCOTT falls on debris and sustains injury Sept. 

The Burdines' incident occurs 

SCOTT is terminated by Mitchell 
(R. 317-318) 

Mitchell goes on three week vacation 
(R. 519) 

MR. SCOTT goes to OTIS' office and fills out 
notice of injury form in order to receive 
medical. treatment (R. 255, Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 2, Notice of injury form) 

MR. SCOTT sees doctor for first time for 
injury of Sept. 12, 1980 (Plaintiff's 
Exhibit 2, Health Insurance Claim form) 

Mitchell returns from vacation and signs 
notice of injury form stating that he was 
"unaware of injury" (Plaintiff's Exhibit 2, 
Notice of Injury) 

1980 

Sept. 19, 1980 

Sept. 25, 1980 

End of Sept. 
1980 

Oct. 17, 1980 

Oct. 20, 1980 

Oct. 22, 1980 

When Mitchell told SCOTT to take some time off on September 

1980, Mitchell admitted that he mentioned MR. SCOTT'S injury 

508-509). 

The testimony of SCOTT and Mitchell as to the insurance form 

given Mitchell on the day SCOTT was terminated is directly 

contradictory. It was MR. SCOTT'S testimony that this form was 

given Mitchell inside the OTIS' offices before Mitchell took him 

outside and told him that he was terminated. MR. SCOTT said the 

form he gave Mitchell was a disability health form to pay MR. 

SCOTT'S mortgage payments in case he became disabled and had 

3 
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nothing to do with unemployment as Mitchell testified (R. 533). 

Mitchell testified that SCOTT called him and asked him to 

fill out a mortgage form and that he fired him in the parking 

lot of the OTIS' offices (R. 503). Mitchell admitted that this 

form was given to him inside the OTIS' office before he and MR. 

SCOTT walked outside to the parking lot thus corroborating Mr. 

Scott's testimony (R. 318, 529). 

MR. SCOTT testified that as to the inconsistency in some of 

his testimony concerning the date on which certain events 

occurred, he became confused in giving dates in his deposition 

as to when the different forms were presented to Mitchell (R. 

350-352). However MR. SCOTT clearly testified on rebuttal that 

the form that he gave Mitchell in his office prior to the time 

he was terminated was a health form in case he was sick or hurt 

so that insurance would pay his monthly mortgage payments (R. 

533). 

Mitchell admitted at trial that even unfounded allegations 

of wrongdoing on the job by MR. SCOTT were considered by him in 

firing MR. SCOTT (R. 522). MR. SCOTT'S testimony at trial was 

that he was told to take some time off by Mitchell because of 

the Burdines' incident & his injury of September 12, 1980 (R. 

319). It should be pointed out that no one from Burdines was 

produced at trial by OTIS to verify Mitchell's testimony that he 

had received a complaint from a vice president of Burdines. 

4 
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POINT 1 
(Certified Question) 

THE PLAINTIFF IN A WRONGFUL DISCHARGE ACTION PURSUANT TO SECTION 
440.205 IS ENTITLED TO RECOVER DAMAGES FOR EMOTIONAL DISTRESS. 

This issue has been properly preserved for appeal and 

should be determined by this Court. The complaint in this case 

specifically stated that MR, SCOTT sought damages for "loss or 

morale, confidence, self-esteem, humiliation and loss of 

reputation among his friends and fellow co-workers" (R. 674) as 

a result of his wrongful discharge. In addition, the Plaintiff 

proferred testimony on this issue indicating those damages which 

were a direct consequence of his loss of employment and were not 

simply due to "loss of reputation" as OTIS claims (Answer brief 

at 14) (R. 2 2 1 ) .  

OTIS does not attempt to discuss or distinguish Plaintiff's 

citation of CAGLE v, BURNS and ROE, INC., 106 Wash. 2d 911, 726 

P. 2d 434 (Wash. en banc 1986) where that court held that the 

plaintiff in a wrongful termination suit could recover damages 

for emotional distress. OTIS also does not respond to the fact 

that the majority of jurisdictions that recognize a cause of 

action for wrongful discharge also allow recovery for damages 

for emotional distress. 

We need not repeat the arguments raised in our initial 

brief but rather urge that this Court align itself with the 

majority of jurisdictions which have considered this issue and 

determined that damages for emotional distress are available as 

part of the plaintiff's compensatory damages since a wrongful 

5 
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discharge action is an intentional tort. See, SCOTT v. OTIS 

ELEVATOR COMPANY, 524 So. 2d 642, 643 (Fla. 1988). We believe 

that such a decision would implement the Legislature's obvious 

remedial intent in enacting Section 440.205 and is in line with 

this Court's prior decision herein. 

- 

OTIS continues to urge that this Court rely upon federal 

decisions decided under certain federal anit-discrimination acts 

in determining MR. SCOTT'S entitlement to damages (Answer brief 

at 16). 

line of cases on the statute of limitations issue which was 

decided adversely to OTIS in our prior appeal to this Court. 

SCOTT v. OTIS ELEVATOR COMPANY, 524 So. 2d 642 (Fla. 1988). 

This Court previously rejected this same argument and 

OTIS states that in order to recover punitive damages, MR. 

(Answer brief at SCOTT must prove extreme an outrageous conduct 

16). 

inherent in a finding by the jury that OTIS illegally fired him 

because he was pursuing a workers' compensation claim! 

has already found that OTIS discharged MR. SCOTT in violation of 

Section 440.205. 

meets the extreme and outrageous test. 

MR. SCOTT would agree and submits such proof would be 

A jury 

This was an illegal act and by any standard 

For these reasons, the Plaintiff respectfully requests that 

this Court hold that damages for mental distress are available 

to the Plaintiff in a Section 440.205 action and reverse and 

remand this action with directions that Plaintiff's claim for 

mental distress arising from his wrongful discharge be presented 

to the jury. 

6 
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POINT JI- 

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT 
401 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1951) 
FERGUSON . 

UNDER BINGER V. KING PEST CONTROL, 
IN EXCLUDING E~ETEETEE~Y OF WILLIE 

OTIS relies heavily upon the fact that Ferguson was deposed 

in a separate criminal case to claim that MR. SCOTT incurred no 

prejudice in this civil case due to his civil attorney's lack of 

knowledge as to the content of Ferguson's testimony. However, 

OTIS admits at Page 19 of its brief that SCOTT'S lawyer in the 

criminal case was not the same attorney involved in the civil 

matter presently before the Court. Additionally, MR. SCOTT 

testified that he did not know that Ferguson was deposed in the 

criminal proceedings against him arising from the Burdine's 

incident, nor that he had been listed as a witness by the State 

(R. 415). 

MR. SCOTT'S attorneys stated to the trial court that they 

were under the assumption that in the criminal matter against 

MR. SCOTT, the file had been sealed and ajudication withheld. 

Therefore there was nothing in the criminal file that would have 

been admissible in this civil proceeding. Consequently MR. 

SCOTT'S attorneys had not attempted to obtain information from 

the criminal file, believing it to be unavailable (R. 412). 

Obviously Ferguson's testimony was relevant to the defense 

However Ferguson was still an employee of OTIS at the of OTIS. 

time of trial. Moreover he claimed that others on the job site, 

including his superintendent, were informed of his "crucial1' 

knowledge yet OTIS did not disclose him as a witness until less 

7 
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than two weeks before trial and did not produce any of the other 

multitude of OTIS employees who allegedly witnessed the disputed 

gun incident (R. 401-402). 

Simply as a matter of common sense it is inconceivable that 

OTIS suddenly 'Idiscovered" this critical testimony a mere 10 

days before trial. Of course there was no way for Plaintiff's 

counsel to prove such a fact. 

Nevertheless, it is because of the very critical nature of 

this testimony that the trial judge excluded it reasoning that 

Plaintiff should have been given an opportunity to verify 

Ferguson's story. This reasoning appears sound in light of 

Ferguson's testimony indicating that a multitude of OTIS 

employees would corroborate his claims (R. 400-402). 

The exclusion of Ferguson clearly met the "compelling 

circumstances'' test cited by OTIS (Answer brief at 18). Because 

of the critical nature of the testimony, it obviously would 

prejudice the Plaintiff's right to a fair trial absent his 

opportunity to "test" Ferguson's credibility. 

As to the Binger criteria, the record reflects that neither 

MR. SCOTT or his attorneys in the civil matter were aware of 

Ferguson's "knowledge" although they knew he was an employee of 

OTIS. 

of his testimony since they did not know the contents of his 

testimony until trial. In addition, bad faith and intentional 

noncompliance could be inferred from OTIS' failure to list 

Ferguson as a witness until 10 days prior to trial particularily 

since Ferguson was still an employee of OTIS at the time of 

Obviously they were unable to cure the prejudicial effect 

8 
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trial and indicated that many OTIS employees had knowledge of 

the alleged gun incident. 

Of course, in order for Plaintiff to cure the resulting 

prejudice he would have been required to request a continuance 

of at least several days in order to depose all of the other 

OTIS employees who Ferguson testified would have supported his 

testimony. This choice was neither possible nor feasible. 

Although OTIS claims otherwise, obviously SCOTT would have 

suffered actual prejudice by the admission of Ferguson's 

testimony. As a result, the decision of the trial court 

excluding Ferguson was a proper exercise of the trial court's 

discretion and the decision of the Fourth District should be 

quashed. 

POINT III 

REINSTATEMENT IS NOT AN AVAILABLE REMEDY IN A WRONGFUL DISCHARGE 
CASE UNDER SECTION 440.205 AND THEREFORE DAMAGES FOR FUTURE LOST 
WAGES ARE AVAILABLE. 

OTIS claims that the only damages recoverable by MR. SCOTT 

would be those sustained between the time he was discharged by 

OTIS and subsequently employed by Mowry Elevator. OTIS also 

urges that if SCOTT was unemployed at the time of trial he would 

be entitled to reinstatement to his old position if he was able 

to perform those duties. 

be entitled to reinstatement to a position comparable to the one 

If not, OTIS claims that SCOTT would 

he presently holds with Mowry. 

Again, however, OTIS confuses the nature of this claim. 

Since this is a tort action Plaintiff is entitled to all 

9 
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I proximately caused damages resulting from Defendant's wrongful 

conduct. See, generally, SMITH v. ATLAS OFFSHORE BOAT SERL'ICE, 

INC., 552 F. Supp. 128 (S.D. Miss. 1982). Although Defendant 

relies upon federal anti-discrimination statutes and provisions 

to support such an argument, such authority is not controlling 

here. 

As cited previously numerous courts have held that an 

action for wrongful discharge, even when brought pursuant to a 

statute similar to Florida's, is nonetheless a tort action. As 

a result, since there is no provision under the statute in 

question for the trial court to order reinstatement, the trial 

court in this case appropriately found that Plaintiff's remedy 

was limited to an award of damages (R. 156). 

According to the testimony of Dr. Redman, Plaintiff's 

economist, based upon union wage rates between 1980 and 1984 and 

assuming MR. SCOTT would continue as a mechanic (the position he 

held at Mowry) working full time until the age of 65, this would 

result in a present value of net future lost earnings of 

$424,230.00 (R. 176). This figure did not include possible 

promotions (R. 184). The jury awarded less than half this 

figure (R. 830). 

An award of future lost wages has been found appropriate 

where the employee can establish with reasonable certainty that 

the loss of future wages, retirement and other benefits are the 

result of a wrongful discharge. CARNATION v. BORNER, 610 S.W. 

2d 450 (Tex. 1980); SANTEX, INC. v. CUNNINGHAM, 618 S.W. 2d 557 

(Tex. Civ. App. 1981); KELSAY, supra. 

10 
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It is also clear that even under federal law, an award of 

front pay is permissible where reinstatement is not a suitable 

remedy for the defendant's discriminatory discharge. WHITTLESEY 

v. UNION CARBIDE CORP., 742 F. 2d 724, 726 (2nd Cir. 1984). In 

a Title VII case for employment discrimination an award of 

future lost wages is an alternative to the traditional equitable 

remedy of reinstatement. GOSS v. EXXON OFFICE SYSTEMS COMPANY, 

747 F. 2d 885 (3rd Cir. 1984). 

Since the claim presented by Plaintiff was a tort action 

and Section 440.205 does not provide for reinstatement as an 

equitable remedy, it is clear that the trial court appropriately 

instructed the jury and allowed an award of future lost wages. 

Otherwise, there is no way for the Plaintiff to be made whole. 

As a practical matter, Plaintiff should point out that it 

would be a hollow victory indeed to be awarded reinstatement 

herein since OTIS claims that Plaintiff can't work anyway and 

MR, SCOTT testified when he tried to return to work at OTIS he 

was told that there was no work available (R. 350). Further, 

OTIS' brief is replete with statements concerning MR. SCOTT'S 

inability to work (Answer brief at 24-25, 28). 

As with any other tort action concerning recovery for 

future lost wages, it is up to the jury to decide, based upon 

the evidence presented, whether such an award is speculative or 

unsupported by the evidence, Defendant chose not to present any 

contrary testimony on this issue and therefore the jury was free 

to accept Dr. Redman's analysis. 

Plaintiff should further point out that even where 

11 
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reinstatement has been found to be an appropriate remedy, it 

will not be utilized where animosity between the employer and 

employee make such a remedy inappropriate. See O'DONNELL v. 

GEORGIA OSTEOPATHIC HOSPITAL, 748 F. 2d 1 5 3  (11th Cir. 1984); 

GOSS, supra. 

preclude reinstatement as an alternative remedy. 

facts of this case, Plaintiff submits that the relationship of 

the parties at this time is obviously such that reinstatement 

would not be possible. 

In such a case disharmony on the job would 

Under the 

Moreover, any argument by the Defendant that these damages 

were speculative is to no avail, since Defendant did not come 

forward with any proof as to Plaintiff's projected future lost 

wages nor did it discredit the testimony of Plaintiff's expert 

as to the amount of damages sustained. For these reasons, the 

trial court was correct in submitting plaintiff's claim for 

future lost wages and benefits to the jury and refusing to alter 

this award. 

POINT 

THE PLAINTIFF IN A WRONGFUL DISCHARGE CASE IS ENTITLED TO 
PREJUDGMENT INTEREST ON A PAST LOST WAGES AWARD. 

Contrary to the argument presented by OTIS, MR. SCOTT'S 

attorney did not advise the trial court that he was not seeking 

prejudgment interest (R. 150). Rather, the transcript reflects 

that the court and counsel were discussing testimony to be 

presented by Plaintiff's economist as to his past and future 

lost wages and the calculations used by the economist in 

bringing the past lost wages of MR. SCOTT to present value (R. 

12 
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149-150). 

Of course, at the time this action was tried in April of 

1985 this Court's decision in ARGONAUT INSURANCE CO. v. MAY 

PLUMBING COMPANY, 474 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1985) had not been 

rendered, However, this Court stated in ARGONAUT that once the 

verdict has liquidated the damages as of a date certain the 

computation of prejudgment interest is merely a mathematical 

computation and therefore no findings of fact by the jury are 

necessary. 

It is also not necessary that the plaintiff demand 

prejudgment interest in their pleadings. See, GETELMAN v. 

LEVEY, 481 So. 2d 1236 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985). Since this Court 

must apply the prevailing law at the time of appeal, Plaintiff 

would be entitled to prejudgment interest. 

Defendant's argument that MR. SCOTT'S past lost wages are 

not "out of pocket" losses is wholly without merit since his 

wages were determined according to union scale and were easily 

verifiable. No speculation by the jury was necessary as to the 

amount of these damages. Although OTIS claims that prejudgment 

interest is not available under Florida law on past lost wages, 

it fails to cite any authority for this claim. 

Plaintiff submits that where lost wages are an element of 

tort damages which are verifiable in amount and duration and are 

liquidated by a jury verdict, prejudgment interest should be 

assessed. See, HADRA v. HERMAN BLUM CONSULTING ENGINEERS, 632 

F. 2d 1242 (5th Cir. 1980) which affirmed an award to the 

plaintiff in a wrongful discharge case of prejudgment interest 
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on his past lost wages claim under Texas law. 

For these reasons, Plaintiff respectfully requests that 

this Court reverse and remand this action with directions that 

the Plaintiff be awarded interest on the amount of the verdict 

for past lost wages at the statutory rate from the date of the 

loss. 

POINT 

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR 
DIRECTED VERDICT SINCE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE EXISTED PRESENTING A 
JURY QUESTION ON THE ISSUE OF PLAINTIFF'S WRONGFUL DISCHARGE. 

Only where no view of the evidence could sustain a verdict 

for the party against whom judgment is sought is a directed 

verdict appropriate. In reviewing the evidence in the record 

before this Court, a11 facts and inferences are to be viewed in 

the light most favorable to the Plaintiff as the non-moving 

party. It is clear that OTIS' brief is wholly violative of 

these principles and that in fact it urges this Court to adopt 

certain "undisputed" facts which in reality were the subject of 

conflicting evidence. 

Defendant claims that it is entitled to a directed verdict 

in this case because "the undisputed facts were sufficient, as a 

matter of law, to warrant the employer in terminating the 

employee" (Respondent's brief at 3 6 ) .  Defendant then goes on 

to discuss numerous cases where an employee was discharged and 

such a discharge was later upheld on the basis of misconduct 

within the scope of employment (Respondent's brief at 36-40). 

MR. SCOTT submits that OTIS again ignores the legal 

elements necessary to sustain a wrongful discharge action, the 
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burden of proof of such claims, and the nature of the action. 

Plaintiff has set forth below decisions from other 

jurisdictions, since there is no Florida law directly on point, 

concerning an action for wrongful discharge, the burden of proof 

and inferences available to the employer and employee, and the 

quantum of proof necessary to present a jury question. 

Numerous states have now recognized an employee's right to 

maintain a cause of action for retaliatory discharge arising 

from the employee's filing of a workers' compensation claim. 

See, ANNOT., 32 A.L.R. 4th 1221, 1227-1235 (1984). 

The seminal case discussing retaliatory discharge actions 

if clearly FRAMPTON v. CENTRAL INDIANA GAS CO., 260 Ind. 249, 

297 N.E. 2d 425 (1973). In that case, the Supreme Court of 

Indiana recognized a common law cause of action in Indiana for 

retaliatory discharge arising from the filing of a workers' 

compensation claim. That court found: 

If employers are permitted to penalize employees for 
filing workmans' compensation claims, a most important 
public policy will be undermined. The fear of being 
discharged would have a deleterious effect on the 
exercise of a statutory right. 

Employees will not file claims for justly deserved 
compensation - opting, instead, to continue their 
employment without incident. The end result, of 
course, is that the employer is effectively relieved 
of his obligation. FRAMPTON at 427. 

The court in FRAMPTON found that retaliatory discharge 

because of the filing of a workers' compensation claim was an 

intentional wrongful act for which the employee is entitled to 

be fully compensated. 
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OTIS argues that because it came forward with a 'Ireason'l 

for M R .  SCOTT'S termination, i.e., the alleged gun incident at 

Burdines, that therefore there is no cause of action available 

to Plaintiff as a matter of law. 

Defendant claims that the "undisputed evidence" establishes 

that this alleged gun incident justified Plaintiff's termination 

and therefore Defendant was entitled to a directed verdict. In 

addition to the fact that there was substantial evidence in the 

record supporting Plaintiff's position that he was discharged 

because of his filing of a workers' compensation claim and was 

intimidated and threatened by Defendant in pursuing this claim, 

the Defendant ignores that line of cases discussing the elements 

necessary to establish a prima facie case and the type and 

quality of evidence found sufficient to present a jury question 

in other jurisdictions. 

The New York Court of Appeals in AXEL v. DUFFY-MOTT 

COMPANY, INC., 47 N.Y. 2d 1, 389 N.E. 2d 1075 (1979) discussed 

judicial review of the evidence presented in a retaliatory 

discharge case. The court wisely noted that employers who 

engage in such conduct "rarely broadcast their intentions to the 

world." AXEL at 1077. The court in AXEL pointed out that 

employers who do retaliate are expected to try to avoid 

detection and therefore will use subtle rather than obvious 

methods. Id. The court specifically acknowledged that: 

visible manifestations of even a most improperly motivated 
discharge may be difficult to sort out from a 
nonretaliatory exercise of this discretion, - Id. 

In fact, the testimony of the plaintiff alone has been held 

1 6  
CATHY JACKSON LERMAN, P. A. 



sufficient to submit the case to the jury, See, HANSOME v. 

NORTHWESTERN COOPERAGE COMPANY, 679 S.W. 2d 273 (Mo. -- en banc 

1984) and cases cited therein, and support judgment in the 

plaintiff's favor. A.J. FOYT CHEVROLET, INC. v. JACOBS, 578 

S.W. 2d 445 (Tex. Civ. App. 1979); CURLING v. NEWPORT NEWS 

SHIPBUILDING AND DRY DOCK COMPANY, 8 B.R.B.S. 770 (BRB NO. 77- 

421 August 31, 1978). 

As one court observed, the proof necessary to establish 

that an employee has been terminated because of the filing of a 

workers' compensation claim is necessarily indirect because the 

employer is not likely to "announce retaliation as his motive." 

REED v. SALE MEMORIAL HOSPITAL AND CLINIC, 698 S.W. 2d 931 (Mo. 

Ct. App. 1985). The court in REED noted that the existence of 

animus between the employer and employee is a question for the 

jury. REED at 936. 

Like the Defendant here, the defendants in REED argued that 

in order for the plaintiff to present a submissible case for 

jury determination, plaintiff would have to establish that the 

notice of formal claim was received by the employer prior to 

plaintiff's discharge and that defendant acted based upon this 

knowledge. REED at 936. However, the REED court rejected this 

argument and found that imposing such a burden on the plaintiff 

would effectively nullify the statute allowing such a claim. Id. 
The court found that the proximity in time of the 

employer's action to the plaintiff's decision to make a claim 

was some indication of a retaliatory motive on the part of the 

employer. Id. The court further found that the evidence in 
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REED which consisted of the plaintiff's testimony and the 

contrary testimony of her employer was sufficient to present a 

jury question. Also see KELSAY v. MOTOROLA, INC., supra, where 

that court affirmed judgment in favor of the plaintiff/employee 

and noted that the essential testimony in the record consisted 

of plaintiff's statements of being warned by her employer not to 

follow through with her compensation claim and where plaintiff 

was advised by her employer that it was company policy to 

terminate employees who pursued workers' compensation claims. 

KELSAY, 384 N.E. 2d at 356. 

Even if the record contains evidence tending to explain the 

actions of the defendant or perhaps support termination, where 

there is evidence of such a character that reasonable men could 

differ as to its truthfulness or importance, a directed verdict 

should not be granted. HENDERSON v. TRADITIONAL LOG HOMES, 

INC., 70 N.C. App. 303, 319 S.E. 2d 290 (N.C. Ct. App, 1984). 

That is the exact situation here since the determinative factual 

issues were based upon the jury's assessment of the credibility 

of the witnesses and the weight of the evidence presented by MR, 

SCOTT and OTIS. 

In reversing the trial court's entry of judgment 

notwithstanding the verdict in favor of the defendant/employer 

in SCHRADER v. ARTCO BELL CORPORATION, 579 S.W. 2d 534 (Tex. 

Civ. App. 1979) the court noted that where there is some 

evidence, "more than a scintilla," having probative force upon 

which the jury could make the findings relied upon, a directed 

verdict is not available because of the factual insufficiency of 
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the evidence. SCHRADER at 539. 

Additionally, in the case of HENDERSON v. ST. LOUIS HOUSING 

AUTHORITY, 605 S.W. 2d 800 (Mo. Ct. App. 1979) that court 

affirmed the trial court's denial of defendant's motion for 

directed verdict based upon the testimony of the plaintiff in 

that case that defendant's employee told him he was being 

discharged because he had filed a workers' compensation claim. 

The court found this testimony constituted substantial evidence 

sufficient to present a subrnissible jury question. HENDERSON at 

803. 

In SCHUBBE v. DIESEL SERVICE UNIT CO., 71 Or. App. 232, 692 

P. 2d 132 (1984) the defendant/employer argued that the 

plaintiff was fired because he had worked unauthorized overtime 

and exhibited a bad attitude. However, the appellate court 

concluded on & novo review that plaintiff would not have been 

discharged but for the defendant/employer's discriminatory 

motive of retaliation for the plaintiff's filing of a workers' 

compensation claim. 

In that case, plaintiff presented evidence that his 

supervisors had expressed their displeasure with his decision to 

file a workers' compensation claim and that after a work related 

injury and lay off, when he was released to return to work he 

was informed that he did not have a job. 

even though plaintiff may have worked some unauthorized overtime 

The court found that 

prior to his discharge, that the primary reason for his 

discharge was still his filing of a workers' compensation claim 

and therefore upheld judgment in his favor. 
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Plaintiff should also point out that in the case of TEXAS 

STEEL CO. v. DOUGLAS, 533 S.W. 2d 111 (Tex. Civ. App. 1976) it 

was emphasized that statutes prohibiting retaliatory discharge 

would be "completely useless" if the plaintiff/employee was 

required to show that he or she was fired only after they filed 

a claim for compensation. The court stated that if such a rule 

were allowed, then all the employer would have to do in order to 

defeat a claim for retaliatory discharge would be to fire the 

injured workman before he filed the claim. 

This is the exact position taken by OTIS in this case since it 

argues that SCOTT couldn't have been discharged in retaliation 

for his filing of a workers' compensation claim since he was 

discharged by Mitchell before the notice of injury form was 

prepared by OTIS and signed by SCOTT. 

TEXAS STEEL at 115. 

In AXEL, supra, the New York Court of Appeals noted that 

the chanqe in attitude by the employer between the time of the 

injury and the termination of employment supported an inference 

that plaintiff was terminated because of her workers' 

compensation claim. 

a "first rate employment history" (like MR. SCOTT) and the 

employer's sudden change of attitude with respect to plaintiff's 

performance indicated an underlying animus as the result of the 

claim. 

- 

The court noted in AXEL that plaintiff had 

In addition, the appellate court noted that the employer 

offered no evidence at trial of its treatment of other employees 

who were supposedly tardy, or who made personal phone calls, or 

whose performance was questioned on the same grounds as the 
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plaintiff in AXEL. Moreover, there was no documentation of 
company policies or rules submitted into evidence showing that 

the plaintiff's conduct was below the standard required of 

employees (like OTIS here). The court found that an adequate 

foundation had been laid by the plaintiff in AXEL to establish 

that her discharge was in retaliation for her pursuit of a 

compensation claim. 

The Defendant has cited, in support of its defense of 

nonretaliatory discharge, only those facts in the record which 

concern the incident at the Burdines' job site where MR. SCOTT 

allegedly threatened the employee of another company with a gun. 

However, even that description by Defendant is slanted and 

clearly not within the appellate rule requiring that all facts 

and inferences be construed in favor of the prevailing party in 

order to determine whether a jury question was established in 

this record- 

The trial court correctly decided that it was up to the 

jury to determine whether MR. SCOTT had proven his case of 

retaliatory discharge and that such proof would have to be done 

based upon inferences arising from OTIS' coercion, threats, and 

intimidation of MR. SCOTT (R. 430). The trial court found that 

based upon Section 440.205 and the evidence presented, OTIS' 

motion for directed verdict should be denied- 

The issue raised by Defendant's motion for directed verdict 

at trial and now on appeal is not whether the facts and the 

record would support the Defendant's discharge of Plaintiff as 

stated by OTIS. The question is rather whether MR. SCOTT 
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sustained the burden of proof of establishing his pursuit of a 

workers' compensation claim, and his retaliatory discharge 

arising therefrom. Regardless of whether OTIS "believes" it had 

an excuse for terminating Plaintiff, if the substantial reason 

for MR. SCOTT'S discharge was his filing of a workers' 

compensation claim, he is entitled to prevail. 

There is no question in this case nor was there any at 

trial that Plaintiff was an at will employee. The only question 

in this case is why MR. SCOTT was terminated from his employment 

with OTIS after nineteen and one half years. 

OTIS ignores the evidence in this record that supports MR. 

SCOTT'S position as found by the jury, that his termination was 

retaliatory, that OTIS through its agent Mitchell was aware that 

MR. SCOTT had been injured on the job and would be filing a 

workers' compensation claim, and that the Burdines' incident was 

not the substantial reason for M F t .  SCOTT'S discharge. 

Plaintiff urges that based on the evidence submitted at 

trial which will be reviewed below, the jury was properly the 

final arbiter of the question of whether OTIS was guilty of 

wrongfully discharging MR. SCOTT. Contrary to the facts 

contained in Respondent's brief, there is sufficient evidence in 

the record, albeit circumstantial, to support Plaintiff's claim 

and the verdict rendered herein. 

The trial court correctly determined that it was the 

Plaintiff's burden to establish a workers' compensation claim, 

that the discharge was the result of that claim, and that 

Plaintiff suffered damages arising therefrom (R. 60). The court 
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also reasoned that it was the Defendant's burden to establish 

that the reason for MR. SCOTT'S discharge was not pretextural 

and for Plaintiff in rebuttal to establish why that was not the 

real reason for his discharge (R. 60). 

The trial court noted that Plaintiff was not required to 

establish that an OTIS representative specifically stated to MR. 

SCOTT "I'm discharging you because you filed a claim," because 

the court found that was not a reasonable burden of proof (R. 

60). 

not present and recognized that there would not always be direct 

statements to the employee supporting such a claim (R. 61). 

Defense counsel for OTIS conceded that such a burden was 

Nevertheless, in response to OTIS' claim of entitlement to 

a directed verdict We submit for the Court's review the facts in 

this case viewed most favorably to the Plaintiff: 

J. D. Mitchell, an OTIS employee and MR. SCOTT'S direct 

supervisor, admitted at trial that BILL SCOTT told him he had 

injured himself on the Galleria job site and at the time that 

BILL informed him of the injury, BILL was walking with a cane 

(R. 1 2 4 ) .  Mitchell was also aware that SCOTT had sustained a 

prior injury to his leg (R. 1 2 4 ) .  

Mitchell testified that MR. SCOTT told him that he had 

tripped and fallen over some debris when he got out of an 

elevator and injured his leg (R. 1 2 5 ) .  

was mid or early September when MR. SCOTT told him about his leg 

injury (R. 125). 

which was finally completed by OTIS, Mitchell made a notation 

that he was Wnaware of injury" (Plaintiff's Exhibit #l). 

Mitchell stated that it 

However, on MR. SCOTT'S notice of injury form 

*.- 
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Mitchell claimed that MR. SCOTT was fired because of 

customer complaints, absenteeism, and tardiness (R. 1 2 7 ) .  

However the "customer complaints" were contained only on the 

termination notice (R. 127, 130). As to absenteeism and 

tardiness, Mitchell testified that there was only one letter 

written by Mitchell in MR. SCOTT'S personnel file concerning 

that complaint (R. 130). There was no mention in MR. SCOT'S 

personnel file of the incident at Burdines. 

MR. SCOTT testified at trial that in all the years that he 

was a foreman on OTIS job sites, there were never any complaints 

about the quality of his work (R. 244 ) .  MR. SCOTT testified 

that OTIS representatives told him that he had been requested by 

Burdines to do all of their jobs (R. 244 ) .  

The only time that MR. SCOTT recalled being late to the job 

site after becoming a foreman and while Mitchell was his 

supervisor was an incident that occurred the day after New 

Year's Day when he stayed in a restaurant to have coffee 

resulting in him and his men being about fifteen minutes late 

for work (R. 246 ) .  Mitchell was already on the job site when 

SCOTT and his men arrived and reprimanded SCOTT for the 

incident. 

MR. SCOTT testified that he deducted one hour's pay from 

his own paycheck for the week because there were four people who 

were approximately 15 minutes late. 

anything from the other men's paychecks (R. 246- 247) .  

However, he did not deduct 

MR. SCOTT testified that he did not remember an incident in 

August of 1980 reflected in a memorandum from Mitchell in MR. 
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SCOTT'S personnel file where a discussion took place between the 

men concerning MR. SCOTT'S "tardiness" (R. 248) .  As foreman, 

MR. SCOTT was the highest official on the OTIS job site on a day 

to day basis. 

MR. SCOTT stated that he was told by Mitchell to hold down 

accidents on the job site (R. 249 ) .  MR. SCOTT further testified 

that at one time OTIS had a substandard safety record and the 

employees were instructed to hold down "lost time accidents'' (R. 

249) .  

MR. SCOTT related an incident where an employee was injured 

on the job site, and MR. SCOTT took him to the hospital. While 

at the hospital MR. SCOTT called Mitchell and told him about the 

accident. MR. SCOTT testified that Mitchell asked that the 

hospital bill claim be handled through the employee's health 

insurance (instead of workers' compensation) and that the 

employee would be reimbursed with cash from OTIS (R. 250- 251) .  

Furthermore, SCOTT testified that at one Friday safety meeting 

Mitchell stated that the next employee who got hurt and filed a 

compensation claim was going to lose a week's time (i.e., lose 

one week's pay) (R. 252 ) .  MR. SCOTT testified that the reason 

for this was to hold down OTIS' insurance rates and improve the 

company's safety record (R. 253 ) .  

MR. SCOTT was injured on September 12, 1980. He tried to 

call Mitchell that day but Mitchell was out of the office (R. 

272 ) .  

injury the following week when Mitchell came to the job site (R. 

272 ) .  

MR. SCOTT testified that he told Mitchell about his 

MR. SCOTT stated that when he told Mitchell about his 
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injury he showed him his swollen knee and also told him his 

elbow was swollen (R. 2 7 3 ) .  MR. SCOTT explained that he did not 

go to a doctor on the day he told Mitchell about his injury 

because he did not feel he could take the time off from work (R. 

275 ) .  

MR. SCOTT stated that he did not request that Mitchell file 

a workers' compensation claim for him for the September 12, 1980  

injury since he did not understand the process and did not know 

what was necessary to file such a claim (R. 275- 276) .  MR. SCOTT 

stated that a couple of weeks after the injury Mitchell told him 

to take off from work and gave as his reason the incident at 

Burdines and MR. SCOTT'S injury (R. 278, 319 ) .  

As to the alleged gun incident at the Burdines job site on 

September 19, 1980, MR. SCOTT denied that he had a weapon on the 

job site and that he had pointed it at another construction 

worker (R. 305 ) .  MR. SCOTT testified that the man who accused 

him of pointing a gun at him also had his wife present at the 

time of the arrest. His wife was a police dispatcher for the 

City of Ft. Lauderdale Police Department who arrested MR. SCOTT 

(R. 307- 308) .  MR. SCOTT further testified that this couple were 

friends of his ex-wife (R. 308 ) .  MR. SCOTT had had a prior 

confrontation with this man concerning MR. SCOTT'S ex-wife. 

MR. SCOTT signed the first notice of injury on October 17, 

1980  (R. 326 ) .  MR. SCOTT testified that since he had reported 

his injury to Mitchell he assumed that Mitchell had taken care 

of preparing an accident report (R. 326 ) .  

MR. SCOTT stated that he felt intimidated by OTIS because 
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he had requested his vacation pay when he left OTIS and the 

delay in receiving it made him feel intimidated (R. 329 ) .  MR. 

SCOTT further testified that he felt that his accident had a 

"great deal" to do with his termination (R. 329 ) .  Moreover, MR. 

SCOTT believed that the OTIS employee who completed his accident 

report was fired (R. 330 ) .  

MR. SCOTT gave an example of Mitchell's intimidation of him 

by explaining that normal company policy was that a worker was 

paid expenses if they had to work away from their residence. 

MR. SCOTT testified that Mitchell had him work on several jobs 

in the Palm Beach area even though MR. SCOTT lived in Ft. 

Lauderdale. However, Mitchell told SCOTT to either work in Palm 

Beach with no expenses or go to Miami (R. 347 ) .  MR. SCOTT 

testified that since traffic wasn't as bad going to Palm Beach 

he elected to have his expense money cut off and stayed on the 

job in Palm Beach (R. 3 4 7 ) .  

MR. SCOTT stated that he later discussed the matter with 

Mitchell and told him that he didn't think it was fair that he 

was not receiving expense money (R. 3 4 8 ) .  MR. SCOTT explained 

that a day or two after they had that discussion, midway through 

the Palm Beach job, Mitchell replaced SCOTT (R. 349 ) .  

Tom Bermingham, district manager for OTIS and Mitchell's 

supervisor at the time MR. SCOTT was terminated, testified that 

the decision to terminate MR. SCOTT was a joint decision between 

himself and Mitchell (R. 365- 366) .  Bermingham stated that he 

relied upon the investigation by Mitchell and Mitchell's 

findings in his decision to terminate MR. SCOTT (R. 374- 376) .  
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Bermingham was surprised when he learned at trial that no weapon 

was ever found on the job site (R. 374). Bermingham confirmed 

that it was Mitchell's responsibility to file a notice of injury 

with the State of Florida (R. 381). Bermingham testified that 

MR. SCOTT did a good job and was a hard worker (R. 383). 

Detective Howard Kaye of the Ft. Lauderdale Police Dept, 

testified that he responded to a complaint at the Burdines' job 

site. He stated that he approached MR. SCOTT at the job site 

and that MR. SCOTT denied any involvement with a gun incident 

(R. 386-387). Detective Kaye testified that MR. SCOTT 

voluntarily took him down to the truck in which he had come to 

work (which belonged to MR. SCOTT'S s o n )  and allowed Detective 

Kaye to search the truck (R. 388). Detective Kaye testified 

that no gun or weapon was ever found in the vehicle or on the 

job site (R, 389). Detective Kaye also testified that he did 

not find any bullets to an alleged rifle (R. 391). 

Mitchell admitted that on the day he fired MR. SCOTT, MR. 

SCOTT had called him and asked him to fill out a disability 

insurance mortgage form for him (R. 503). It was when MR. SCOTT 

came to the office to have Mitchell fill out the form that he 

informed him that he had been terminated (R. 503). In fact, 

Mitchell stated that he fired SCOTT after SCOTT gave him the 

form to complete (R. 529). 

Mitchell testified that at the time he fired MR. SCOTT, 

SCOTT was walking with a cane (R. 508-509). Mitchell admitted 

that he saw SCOTT twice between the time he was injured and the 

time he was terminated and SCOTT was limping and using a cane 
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both times (R. 132). 

This case is unlike the facts of DEFORD LUMBER CO., INC. v. 

ROYS, 615 S.W. 2d 235 (Tex. Civ. App. 1981) where there was no 

testimony of any witness includinq the plaintiff that his 
discharge was the result of the filing of a workers' 

compensation claim. Similarly, in SWANSON v. AMERICAN 

MANUFACTURING CO., 511 S.W. 2d 561 (Tex. Civ. App. 1974) it was 

clear that the employee in that case was fired because he lied 

about filing a prior workers' compensation claim. SWANSON at 

564. 

Also the facts here are unlike MITCHELL v. ST. LOUIS 

COUNTY, 575 S.W. 2d 813 (Mo. Ct. App. 1978) where that plaintiff 

was discharged several months after filing a claim for 

compensation benefits and the record amply supported the 

employer's asserted reason for her discharge, i.e., excessive 

absenteeism. MITCHELL at 815. 

Moreover, the plaintiff in SOLOMON v. COHN, GLICKSTEIN, 

LURIE, OSTRIN & LUBELL, 468 N.Y. Supp. 2d 86 (1983) did not 

point to any specific acts or statements of her employer which 

indicated that she had been terminated because of the filing of 

a workers' compensation claim. That case is therefore also 

distinguishable. 

The case of VOLLENWEIDER v. NEW ORLEANS PUBLIS SERVICES, 

INC., 466 So. 2d 804 (La. App. 1985) is also not dispositive 

since in that case it was clear that the plaintiff did not 

follow company regulations concerning treatment for a work 

related injury, and that the employee in that case was absent 
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from work without permission. 

Finally in HUGHES TOOL CO. v. RICHARDS, 624 S.W. 2d 598 

(Tex. Civ. App. 1981) the employee in that case testified that 

he instituted suit against the employer for retaliatory 

discharge because he felt his employer had never accepted the 

fact that he was hurt and they denied him the right to go and 

see a doctor. RICHARDS at 599. The court found these 

allegations, even if true, insufficient to support a finding 

that plaintiff was fired because he instituted proceedings to 

collect workers' compensation benefits. 

Under the Florida Evidence Code, specifically Section 

90.803 ( 7 ) ,  the absence of an entry as to a regularly conducted 

business activity can be utilized to prove the non-existence or 

non-occurrence of any matter. In this case, the Defendant 

failed to establish that the reasons given for termination, 

i.e., customer complaints, absenteeism, tardiness, etc. were 

substantiated in MR. SCOTT'S personnel file or ever actually 

existed. In addition, it is clear from the testimony of the 

arresting officer on the Burdines' job site that no gun was ever 

found, and the arrest of the Plaintiff was made based upon the 

unsupported statements of the complainant, a personal foe of M R .  

SCOTT. 

There is simply no way in a wrongful discharge case to 

present or elicit "direct" evidence of the employer's intent. 

The evidence will of necessity always be circumstantial and 

subject to appropriate inferences by the jury. 

In this case, the jury was presented with the conflicting 
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testimony of MR. SCOTT and Mitchell as to the reason for MR. 

SCOTT'S termination. MR. SCOTT specifically stated that OTIS 

employees had been warned about filing workers' compensation 

claims, had been discouraged from it, and that he felt 

intimidated by Mitchell in pursuing a workers' compensation 

claim. This evidence together with the lack of documentation 

and the purported reason given by OTIS for SCOTT'S termination 

established the causal link under Section 440.205 necessary to 

create a submissible jury case. 

Under the circumstances, there was a conflict in the 

evidence as to the reason Mitchell fired MR. SCOTT. On that 

basis the trial court properly ruled that this issue should be 

resolved by the jury. An employer cannot use the filing or 

attempt to file a compensation claim "as a reason to discharge 

or otherwise discriminate against an employee even if there are 

other reasons." SANTEX, INC. v. CUNNINGHAM, 618 S.W. 2d 557, 

559 (Tex. Civ. App. 1981). 

For these reasons, the trial court was correct in denying 

Defendant's motion for directed verdict and this Court should 

affirm that decision. 

POINT VI 

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN REFUSING TO MODIFY PLAINTIFF'S 
AWARD FOR PAST LOST WAGES AND BENEFITS. 

Defendant claims that Plaintiff is not entitled to past 

lost wages in this case. As the basis for this argument, 

Defendant urges that because MR. SCOTT received an on the job 

injury which necessitated restriction of his duties as an 
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employee, any difference in income is the result of the injury 

and therefore noncompensable. 

MR. SCOTT testified that prior to the on the job injury he 

received in September of 1980 he was able to perform the work of 

a foreman or superintendent even though he had a twenty percent 

disability from his previous injury (R. 346). MR. SCOTT also 

stated that when he recovered from his injury and was told he 

could go back to work, he attempted to return to work for OTIS 

but was told that there was no work available for escalator 
men (R. 350 ) .  In addition to the higher union scale which MR. 

SCOTT received at OTIS than at his subsequent employer, he was 

entitled to three weeks of vacation at foreman's pay, one 

hundred percent medical coverage for himself and his family, a 

vested pension plan through the union that OTIS made 

contribution to, and of course, the higher pay (R. 260) .  

Plaintiff introduced into evidence the sworn affidavit of 

J. D. Mitchell which stated that Mitchell was familiar with MR. 

SCOTT'S prior knee injury and took this into consideration in 

continuing his employment (Plaintiff's Exhibit #l). This 

affidavit also states that Mitchell determined that MR. SCOTT 

was capable of working as a mechanic in spite of this accident, 

Interestingly, the affidavit also states that BILL SCOTT 

continued to work for OTIS "until" September 12, 1980 - the day 
he was injured (See Plaintiff's Exhibit #l). 

More importantly, OTIS took the position at trial that "the 

only appropriate remedy'' in this case, if Plaintiff prevailed, 

would be back pay (including lost wages and benefits) and 

32 
CATHY JACKSON LERMAN, P. A. 



reinstatement (R. 790, 152, 800, 444, 834). In fact, no mention 
was made of the award of past lost wages and benefits in 

Defendant's pre- and post-trial motions! As a result any 

alleged error has been waived for appellate purposes. 

STALLWORTH v. SUPERIOR DAIRIES, INC., 354 So. 2d 950 (Fla. 1st 

DCA 1978; ALLSTATE INSURANCE COMPANY V. GILLESPIE, 455 SO. 2d 

617 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). Furthermore, it is not subject to the 

doctrine of fundamental error as urged by OTIS but rather the 

invited by OTIS. BOULD v. TOUCHETTE, 349 So. error, if any, was 

2d 1181 (Fla. 1977 

Nevertheless, Plaintiff would point out that it is clearly 

the burden of the employer to establish lack of entitlement to 

salary increases and benefits within the employment position of 

the plaintiff. SCHUBBE v. DIESEL SERVICE UNIT CO., 71 Or. App. 

232, 692 P. 2d 132 (1984). The burden of proof is also on the 

employer as to the issue of mitigation of damages. The employer 

must establish that there was comparable employment available to 

the employee in a similar convenient location, that the employee 

made no attempt to apply for such a job and that it was 

reasonably likely that the former employee could obtain such a 

comparable job. RYAN v. SUPERINTENDENT OF SCHOOLS OF QUINCY, 

374 Mass. 670, 373 N.E. 2d 1178 (Mass. 1978); FALLS STAMPING & 

WELDING COMPANY v. INTERNATIONAL UNION, UNITED AUTOMOBILE, 

AIRCRAFT & AGRICULTURAL IMPLEMENT WORKERS OF AMERICA, 485 F. 

Supp. 1097 (N.D. Ohio 1979). 

The proper measure of damages in a wrongful discharge case 

is : 
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The amount the salary for the period would have been less 
the amount plaintiff earned, or which with reasonable 
diligency could have earned, had he applied the same 
ability and devotion in a comparable job. 

LINES v. CITY OF TOPEKA, 223 Kan. 772, 577 P. 2d 42, 50 

(Kan. 1978). The Defendant ignores the fact that the damages 

awarded Plaintiff for loss  of past wages also included loss of 

his pension and other benefits. The $100,000.00 award to 

Plaintiff is actually less than the total of lost wages and 

benefits sustained. 

It is somewhat incongruous for Defendant to now argue on 

appeal that Plaintiff was not entitled to any past wage loss 

benefits. Accepting Defendant's argument would further benefit 

an employer for its own wrong. The employer can discharge its 

employee who has filed a compensation claim as the result of an 

on the job injury and then argue that the employee is not 

entitled to past lost wages because of his disability. Such a 

result was clearly not the intent of the Legislature in enacting 

Section 440.205. 

For these reasons, this issue has not been preserved for 

appellate review but, in fact, was conceded by Defendant and the 

award of past lost wages and benefits should be affirmed. 

POINT Q 

THE JURY WAS CORRECTLY CHARGED ON ALL ELEMENTS NECESSARY TO 
PROVE WRONGFUL DISCHARGE. 

The trial court rejected Defendant's argument that the jury 

should be instructed that the Plaintiff's filing of a workers' 

compensation claim must be shown to be the "sole" cause of his 
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termination (R. 469-470). The trial court reasoned that an 

employer could always find something to "nit-pick about" and use 

it as a cover up (R. 470). The court determined that the jury 

had to find that the positive reason for the discharge was the 

Plaintiff's pursuit of a workers' compensation claim and 

therefore determined that the jury should be instructed that 

they must find that the "substantial reason" for MR. SCOTT'S 

discharge was his pursuit of a workers' compensation claim (R. 

469-471). 

In refusing to give a special mitigation of damages 

instruction the court found that Defendant was entitled to argue 

to the jury that Plaintiff did not mitigate his damages but the 

court determined that a special instruction was not necessary 

due to the fact that this testimony and the actual result sought 

to be achieved by Defendant was implied by the way the evidence 

had been submitted (R. 486-487). More importantly, Defendant 

failed to raise mitigation of damages as an affirmative defense! 

Defendant complains because the jury instructions as given 

did not give the jury the "elements" of a cause of action for 

wrongful discharge. Moreover, Defendant urges that the court 

should have instructed the jury that in order for the Plaintiff 

to recover he must prove that "but for his claim" he would not 

have been discharged. 

It was stated in ITT-NESBITT, INC. v. VALLE'S STEAK HOUSE 

that OF FT. LAUDERDALE, INC., 395 So. 2d 217 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981 

the test as to whether the jury instructions as given were 

correct is whether "the instructions misled the jury or 
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prejudiced a party's right to a fair trial." - Id. at 220. In 

this case it is clear that the jury was properly instructed 

according to substantial case law concerning the burden of proof 

in a wrongful discharge case. 

Plaintiff requested that the statute simply be read to the 

jury. However, the trial court rejected this suggestion and 

instead drafted its own jury instruction providing that if the 

jurors found that MR. SCOTT'S attempt to file a compensation 

claim was the substantial reason for his discharge, Plaintiff 

would prevail. 

The Missouri Court of Appeals found the special jury 

instruction given in HENDERSON v. ST. LOUIS HOUSING AUTHORITY, 

supra, to be overbroad where the jury was instructed that it 

must find for the plaintiff if: (1) plaintiff was employed by 

defendant; (2) plaintiff exercised his rights under the workers' 

compensation act; (3) as a direct result of plaintiff exercising 

his right under the workers' compensation act defendant 

discharged plaintiff; and (4) as a direct result of the 

discharge plaintiff sustained damage. HENDERSON at 803. This 

is essentially the type of instruction requested by this 

Defendant. 

There is absolutely no evidence that the instruction as 

given could have misled or prejudiced Defendant's right to a 

fair trial. Therefore the instruction should be upheld. 

AMERICAN NATIONAL BANK OF JACKSONVILLE v. NORRIS, 368 So. 2d 897 

(Fla. 1st DCA 1979). 

The Texas Court of Civil Appeals in SANTEX, INC. v. 
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s .  
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CUNNINGHAM, supra held that plaintiff was not required to 

establish that he was discharged because he attempted 

to claim workers' compensation benefits. In reviewing its 

statute, which is almost on all fours with Florida, the court 

found that the clear intent was that the employer could not use 

the filing of a workers' compensation claim as a reason for 

discharge of the employee even if other reasons may exist. Id. 
Defendant's proffered jury instructions were contrary to 

I 

the Florida Standard Jury Instructions concerning proximate 

cause and the collateral source rule. See, Fla. Std. Jury 

Instr. (Civ.) 6.13 and 5.1. Defendant's blatantly self-serving 

instructions were clearly violative of Florida law and therefore 

correctly refused. Florida law specifically provides that wages 

paid from other sources are not to be considered. 

The trial court correctly instructed the jury on the issue 

of proximate cause and refused to give the jury a special 

instruction on mitigation of damages. For these reasons, the 

decision of the trial court was correct and must be affirmed. 
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CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, the decision of the district court 

should be quashed and Plaintiff be granted the relief requested 

herein. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Cathy Jackson Lerman, E s q .  
CATHY JACKSON LERMAN, P.A. 
3328 N.E. 34th Street 
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33308 
( 3 0 5 )  566- 5445 
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Place, West Palm Beach, FL 33401; Mark Levitt, Esq., 111 South 

Parker Street, Suite 200, Tampa, FL 33606; and Earle Lee Butler, 

Esq., 1995 E. Oakland Park Blvd., Suite 100, Ft. Lauderdale, FL 

33306. 

3Gk day of 

Cathy Jackson Lerman, Esq. 
CATHY JACKSON LERMAN, P.A. 
3328 N.E. 34th Street 
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39  
CATHY JACKSON LERMAN, P. A. 




